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RESILIENT AND HIGH 
QUALITY BUSINESS



$496.3m
2024 GROUP EBIT

Extending through  
value chain for  

growth & resilience

Extending and  
strengthening core 

competitive advantages

Leveraging platform 
for M&A growth and 

enhancing performance 

Delivering unique 
differentiated value  

(‘Best Store in Their Town’)

FOUNDATIONS OF OUR TRANSFORMATION

~50% since FY20    CAGR: >10%
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ABOUT US

is Australia’s leading wholesale distribution  
company, with revenue (including charge-through) 
of ~$18.2bn in FY24

to create

in support of

CHAMPIONING  
SUCCESSFUL  
INDEPENDENTS

THRIVING LOCAL  
COMMUNITIES

SUSTAINABLE  
SHAREHOLDER  
VALUE

OUR PURPOSEWe service a strong and growing 
network of ~6,500 bannered 
independent retailers in Australia 
and New Zealand; across the 
food, liquor and hardware sectors. 
Our focus is on helping independent 
retailers be the ‘Best Store in Their 
Town’ by providing merchandising, 
operational and marketing support.

We service independent retailers in all corners 
of Australia, including Cape York and Cooktown 
in the North East, Dampier and Broome in 
the North West, Albany and Denmark in the 
South West and Tarwin Lower and Foster in 
the South East.

OUR VALUES
We believe: Independence 
is worth fighting for; 
in treating our people, 
retailers and suppliers the 
way we like to be treated; 
and in giving back to the 
communities where we  
live and work.

~6,500
BANNERED RETAIL STORES 
ACROSS FOOD, HARDWARE 
AND LIQUOR

~95,000
NON-BANNERED 
STORES AND  
CUSTOMERS

WE REACH

~95%
OF AUSTRALIANS
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HIGH QUALITY GROUP
	– Diversified and resilient portfolio

	– �Scaled, highly efficient logistics  
underpins competitive advantage

	– �Integrated wholesale, banner 
and retailer operator

	– �Balance of essential and  
discretionary businesses

STRONG MARKET POSITIONS
	– Leading B2B wholesaler and 

marketplace ecosystem for 
independents

	– �Owner of leading i ndependent  
brands across Hardware,  
Food and Liquor

	– �Stores sit at heart of local communities

POSITIONED FOR CONTINUED GROWTH
	– Successful growth strategies  

replicable across current Group  
and future businesses

	– �Logistics scale and Group capabilities 
provide platform for sustained growth

	– �Continued expansion into retail offers 
large value creation opportunity

OUR FLYWHEEL 
HOW WE CREATE VALUE

SUPPLY
Provide a multi-channel 
B2B platform

Provide an effective and 
efficient route‑to‑market 
choice for suppliers 
through our scale and 
independent partner 
network

DEMAND
Generate and capture  
for our customers

Provide best possible range 
of products to independent 
customers to meet their 
shoppers’ needs, and 
support them with formats 
and tools to compete with 
national retailers

2

3

Our Core
Wholesale & 

Logistics

1

A
ttractive and Strong Brands and Fo

rm
at

s

Value Add Services and Support
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UNDERLYING GROUP EBIT2

$496.3m
0.9% on FY23

GROUP FINANCIALS

FY24 OVERVIEW

OPERATING CASH FLOW 

~$483m
~30% on FY23

GROUP REVENUE1

$18.2bn 
0.7% on FY23 

Reported $15.9bn

UNDERLYING PROFIT AFTER TAX

$282.3m 
8.2% on FY23 

Reported $257.2m

UNDERLYING EARNINGS PER SHARE4

28.3cps 
11% on FY23 

Reported 25.8cps

CASH REALISATION RATIO3

102%
3-year average 90%

TOTAL DIVIDEND 

19.5cps
~70% UPAT

1.	 Includes charge-through sales, which represent direct sales from suppliers to retailers, invoiced through Metcash. 
2.	 Underlying EBIT excludes significant items: Project Horizon implementation costs $14.4m, put option valuation adjustments and business acquisition costs 

$8.7m and Mega DC transition costs of $2.0m.
3.	 Cash realisation ratio (CRR) = cash flow from operations/underlying NPATDA (depreciation and amortisation not tax effected). 
4.	 Includes impact of dividend reinvestment plan (DRP) and equity raise.

See more    Page 18
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SUSTAINABILITY

WASTE-TO-LANDFILL DIVERSION GOAL 

65.9%
Target of 80% by 2028

MEALS DONATED VIA FOODBANK, 
OZHARVEST AND FOOD4CHANGE 

>2.6m 

DOW JONES SUSTAINABILITY INDEX (DJSI) 

89th percentile
from 87th in FY23

TOTAL REPORTABLE INJURY  
FREQUENCY RATE (TRIFR)

14.3
21% improvement on PCP

ACHIEVED INTERIM 2030 
EMISSIONS TARGET FOR FY24 

5.2%
decrease from pcp

CASE STUDY 
METCASH BECOMES FIRST GROCERY RETAILER 
TO SUPPORT THE NATIONAL PLASTICS RECYCLING 
SCHEME (NPRS)
In February 2024, Metcash announced it would 
support the NPRS to help close the loop on soft 
plastic waste.

The NPRS is an industry-led scheme created to fill the gaps in 
Australia’s current soft plastic recycling capability and to establish 
a long-term circular economy for household soft plastics. Metcash 
was the first grocery retailer to officially sign on to support the 
NPRS by providing packaging data from its private label grocery 
products, as well as financial support and insights to shape and 
further promote the program. To-date the NPRS has focused 
on trialling kerbside collections of soft plastic household waste 
for recycling into food-grade plastic packaging as part of a new, 
onshore circular system.
Supporting the NPRS aligns with Metcash’s priorities of  
increasing the use of sustainable packaging in our products and 
reducing packaging waste in our supply chain. In addition to  
existing initiatives to reduce waste to landfill in our distribution 
centres and independent retail network, we will accelerate new 
packaging solutions and further help our shoppers recycle their  
soft plastic household waste as conveniently as possible.

City of Charles Sturt resident participating in 
the National Plastics Recycling Scheme kerbside 
collection trial.

See more    Page 30
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GROUP 
STRATEGY
PURPOSE

Championing Successful 
Independents in 
support of thriving 
local communities 
to create sustainable 
shareholder value

HOW TO WIN

FOR THE END USER
Deliver retail experiences 
and formats that deliver 
differentiated value

FOR THE INDEPENDENT BUSINESS OWNER
Provide business models, wholesale 
supply and support to ensure 
successful independent businesses

FOR THE SUPPLIER
Unmatched route‑to‑market 
partner for access to growing 
independent sector

FOUNDATION
Wholesale infrastructure

Scale and capabilities

Unique brands and formats

Purpose‑driven teams

A BALANCED PORTFOLIO OF BUSINESSES 
POSITIONED FOR CONTINUED GROWTH

	– Unique and differentiated 
shopper value:

	– Quality brands and 
range of store formats

	– �Network standards
	– Price competitiveness

	– Extended range  
through digital B2B 
marketplace “Sorted”

FOOD
Largest supplier  
to independent 
supermarkets in Australia 
and a nationally scaled 
foodservice business

	– Unique and differentiated 
shopper value through  
best-in-class fit-outs and 
refresh projects 

	– Owned and 
exclusive brands 

	– Unique and price  
competitive offer

LIQUOR
Second-largest supplier 
of liquor in Australia 

	– Highly efficient distribution 
with leading retailer and 
customer tools and services

	– Significant consolidation 
opportunities in highly 
fragmented market

	– Retail network 
expansion through joint 
venture and company 
owned stores

HARDWARE
A leader in Trade  
and a growing  
#2 position in DIY 
#1 position in 
Professional Tools

WHERE WE PLAY GROWTH STRATEGIES

Metcash Annual Report 20248



	– Network expansion: 
	– Sustainable growth 

through new stores

	– Joint venture and  
company owned  
store structures

  Page 26$210.1m
15% since FY20

$182.7mFY20

FY24

CAGR: 4%

	– Extended aisle  
for all customers  
across all channels  
via B2B marketplace  
“ALM Connect”

	– Platinum program:  
digital, data, standards  
& compliance across  
the network

$109.2m
50% since FY20

$72.8mFY20

FY24

CAGR: 11%

  Page 28

	– Store network growth:  
New site opportunities

	– Strengthening competitive 
advantages: shared & scaled 
supply chains

$210.9m
150% since FY20

FY20 $84.2m
FY24

CAGR: 26%

SEE MOREEBIT GROWTHGROWTH STRATEGIES

  Page 22
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
Welcome to the Metcash 
Annual Report for the 
2024 financial year. I am 
pleased to report that 
the Company has again 
delivered strong results 
underpinned by the 
success of our strategy  
and the disciplined 
execution of key initiatives. 

Operationally, all pillars performed well, in line with 
their strategic positioning, demonstrating resilience 
in softer market conditions. In Food, strong earnings 
growth was delivered in the most value-conscious 
shopping environment in recent memory, providing 
further evidence of its shift to a sustainable and 
resilient business model. Our Liquor pillar continued 
to outperform the market, win share and deliver 
strong earnings growth. In Hardware, the business 
endured a further weakening in external conditions 
but given our strong market position remains ideally 
positioned for an improvement in activity levels. 

GROUP FINANCIALS 
Total Group revenue increased 0.7% to $18.2bn  
(or $15.9bn excluding charge-through sales), while 
Group EBIT declined 0.9% to $496.3m, with growth 
in Food and Liquor earnings being offset by lower 
earnings in Hardware and increased corporate costs. 
Underlying profit after tax was 8.2% lower at 
$282.3m, largely reflecting the more challenging 
conditions in Hardware. Reported profit after tax  
was down 0.7% to $257.2m. 
The Company’s operating cash flow was a standout 
for the year, increasing 29.5% to $483m. This resulted 
in a cash realisation ratio of 102%, and a three-year 
average of ~90%. 
Total dividends for the year were 19.5 cents per share 
fully franked, in line with the target payout ratio of 
~70% of underlying profit after tax. This reflects the 
Company’s strong cash performance balanced with  
its desire to invest in future growth opportunities. 
Doug Jones will discuss the financial results and 
operating performance in more detail in his  
Group CEO’s report.

OPERATING CASH FLOW

 ~ 30% on FY23
FY24: ~$483m

GROUP REVENUE (INCLUDING CHARGE-THROUGH)

 0.7%
FY24: $18.2bn 
(Reported $15.9bn)
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STRATEGY 
Our strategy, which for many years has focused on 
strengthening the competitive position of our retail 
networks, has resulted in a diversified business 
portfolio and platform that continues to deliver 
strong results. This can be seen in the growth in 
Group earnings which has increased 56% since FY20, 
with a compound annual growth rate of 12%.
In February, we announced major strategic 
acquisitions in the Food and Hardware pillars.  
The acquisition of Superior Foods was completed  
in June and will further strengthen our current Food 
business. It also opens up new growth opportunities 
in the attractive and adjacent foodservices market. 
The Hardware acquisitions of Alpine Truss and Bianco 
Construction Supplies accelerate our Whole of 
House strategy and further strengthen the business’ 
market position. 
At our Investor Day held last March, we indicated that 
our strategic focus is on replicating successful growth 
strategies across the Metcash Group. We have the 
platform and capabilities to deliver this strategy and 
grow not only our current businesses, but also any 
future businesses we may acquire. 

LEADERSHIP CHANGES 
As I noted last year, Deepa Sita was appointed  
Group CFO replacing Alistair Bell, who had earlier 
advised of his intention to retire from the role.  
Deepa joined us in January this year and has also 
assumed responsibility for the Group Strategy 
function. I would like to thank Alistair who kindly 
agreed to stay on longer than planned to facilitate 
Deepa’s transition into the role. 
Unfortunately, Chris Baddock needed to retire  
from the CEO Liquor role in October last year 
for health reasons. John Barakat, the Liquor pillar’s 
General Manager of Merchandise and Operations, 
stepped up to lead the team well until the completion 
of an extensive search for a replacement and the 
subsequent commencement of Kylie Wallbridge  
as the new CEO of Liquor in March. Kylie has 
extensive Australian and international experience  
in the liquor industry. 
We also welcomed Richard Murray as our new CEO 
of Total Tools Holdings at the end of January this year 
following an earlier announcement that Paul Dumbrell 
had decided to step down after more than five years 
in the position. Richard is a highly experienced and 
respected executive with a proven track record in  
the Australian retail sector. 

In May, we announced that Annette Welsh will 
be transitioning from her current CEO role in 
IHG to a corporate strategy and governance role. 
Annette advised that after serving 15 years in senior 
management roles in IHG, including the last five as 
CEO, it was an appropriate time for her to step down 
and hand over to a successor. Geoff Harris, IHG’s 
current General Manager of Merchandise, will be 
interim CEO until the search process for Annette’s 
replacement is completed. 

REMUNERATION 
This year changes were made to our remuneration 
framework to bring it more in line with market 
practice. This included increasing the deferred portion 
of the Short-Term Incentive (STI) from 33% to 40% 
for the Group CEO, and from 25% to 33% for the 
Group CFO. This portion will increase to 50% for the 
Group CEO and 40% for the Group CFO in FY25 
and 50% in FY26.
We also refined the Balanced Scorecards for 
executives, with all executives now sharing Group 
financial and strategic objectives (weighted 70%)  
to ensure an increased collective focus and 
accountability on Group objectives. 
An ‘adjusted EBIT’ was introduced for the FY24 
performance measure for STI and the ROFE LTI 
hurdle. This results in Project Horizon and Mega 
Distribution Centre significant item costs being 
included in the awards calculation to reflect the 
importance of successfully delivering these projects.
Remuneration outcomes continuing executives for 
the year included STI awards ranging from 14.6% to 
38.1% of the maximum opportunity. While in relation 
to the LTI incentive, the FY22 grant was tested at the 
conclusion of three years and vested at 76.7%. 
Fixed remuneration was increased for the CEO of 
IHG, and the former CEO of the Liquor pillar, by 8.3% 
and 4.2% respectively. The adjustments were made to 
reflect each executive’s deep level of role experience 
relative to the market benchmarks. 
Adjustments were also made to Non-Executive 
Director fees, which increased to $167,595. Chair 
fees for the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
and the People, Culture and Nomination Committee 
increased to $46,350, with member fees for these 
committees increasing to $22,660. There will be no 
increases to Director fees in FY25. 
The Board intends to conduct another review of 
the Company’s remuneration framework in FY25 
to ensure the executive remuneration mix and 
performance metrics align with the Company’s 
longer-term strategic objectives.
Further details on the Company’s remuneration 
framework and outcomes can be found in the 
Remuneration Report commencing on page 51. 
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT CONTINUED

GOING FORWARD 
Current economic conditions remain challenging  
and continue to impact consumer confidence with  
a strong shift in consumer behaviour to more  
value-conscious choices, which is expected to 
continue into the FY25 financial year. 
Metcash’s platform of three diversified businesses is 
fundamentally strong, and we have the right plans, 
teams and capabilities in place to deliver future 
growth as we work through the current economic 
cycle. We continue to work closely with our suppliers 
and retailers to maintain a value offering with a wide 
range of products at competitive prices and we are 
encouraged by our retailers’ adaptability and ongoing 
ability to meet shoppers’ needs.
Metcash’s business remains sound. Our financial 
position is strong, our strategy continues to deliver 
and the addition of new channels through our recent 
acquisitions will help us to continue progressing our 
growth plans.

THANKS
To the Metcash team, our independent retailers, 
suppliers and shareholders, on behalf of the whole 
Board, I would like to sincerely thank you for your 
support and contribution throughout the year.
I would also like to thank my fellow Directors for  
their commitment and ongoing support in a 
challenging but once again successful year. 

Peter Birtles 
Chairman

ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND  
GOVERNANCE (ESG)
I am pleased to report that we have continued to 
make good progress with our ESG plans, which cover 
the key areas of People, Planet and Community. 
Our overall ESG performance was placed in the 
89th percentile of our international sector in the 
Dow Jones Sustainability Index, which is a further 
improvement on the 87th percentile achieved in the 
prior year’s assessment. 
We achieved our reduction target for the year 
for Scope 1 and 2 emissions and remain on track 
for achieving an 80% reduction in these emissions 
between 2020 and 2030. We also made good 
progress in better understanding our Scope 3 
emissions, which is a significant area of focus and 
forms part of our readiness work associated with  
the new Sustainability Reporting Standard that we 
anticipate will become effective for Metcash in FY26.
We also achieved our waste diversion target for the 
year and are on track to achieve our longer-term 
target of diverting 80% of waste from landfill by 2028.
Ensuring the safety of our people remains the highest 
of priorities, and it was good to see the significant 
safety initiatives made in the year reflected in a 21% 
improvement in our key performance measure  
of Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR).
We continued to focus on maintaining our excellent 
record of paying equitably across the Metcash Group. 
Our gender pay gap was maintained at ~1% and  
we were ranked 45th globally in the 2024 Equileap 
Top 100 companies for gender equality list.
Workplace engagement and culture continues to 
be a key focus for us, and we achieved a further 
improvement this year with an engagement survey 
score of 58%, up from 57% last year. This places us in 
the 70th percentile of internationally benchmarked 
companies for salaried employees.
Further sustainability information can be found on 
page 30 of the Annual Report, with this year’s full 
Sustainability Report available on our website in  
late August. 

Metcash’s business remains sound.  
Our financial position is strong,  
our strategy continues to deliver and 
the addition of new channels through 
our recent acquisitions will help us to 
continue progressing our growth plans.

Metcash Annual Report 202412



13About Pillars Sustainability Our People Directors’ Report Financial ReportReports



GROUP CEO’S REPORT
I’m proud to be once 
again sharing a strong 
and pleasing set of results 
for FY24. Our portfolio 
of businesses is diverse, 
resilient, and performing 
well, and we have a solid 
platform for growth. Our 
purpose of Championing 
Successful Independents 
in support of thriving local 
communities continues to 
guide our decisions and 
actions and remains at the 
core of both our strategy 
and our operating model.

Our strategy has been in place for some time now 
and has resulted in a portfolio and a platform that  
not only continues to deliver pleasing financial results, 
but also positions Metcash well for the future. 
While each business is subject to the market conditions 
of the sector in which it operates, each one has a clear 
strategy and a structure that underpins these sustained 
results; and these remain in place. 
This year the Food and Liquor pillars delivered 
another year of superb results and are now 
structurally positioned for enduring growth.  
They sell products which are essential for everyday 
living, and they could be described by some as the 
defensive elements of our portfolio; and they’re 
poised for continued structural growth. 
The Hardware pillar is proving resilient in a  
volatile economic climate and continuing to  
maintain its strong market position. The Hardware 
and Professional Tools businesses are more cyclical, 
being more dependent on market conditions. I am 
pleased that these businesses have held margins 
and protected profits in the current operating 
environment. They remain ideally positioned to 
benefit from an improvement in trading activity.

FOOD EBIT

 15% from FY20
CAGR 4%

LIQUOR EBIT

 50% from FY20
CAGR 11%

HARDWARE EBIT

 150% from FY20
CAGR 26%
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Logistics and wholesaling are at the core of the 
Metcash Flywheel and this strategy has proven to 
be an effective investment in our retailers and their 
businesses, their financial health, their overall margins, 
their operating capabilities, and the quality of their 
offer. We have continued to prioritise volume over 
margin expansion as this is what keeps our Flywheel 
spinning. This investment is paying off, evidenced  
by shoppers continuing to find our offer relevant in 
the face of the most value conscious environment  
in recent memory. Australian and New Zealand 
families and businesses are facing many challenges, 
evident in the sales of private label and in the 
trends towards promotions and discounts, and to 
less premium, better value choices. Customers are 
shopping promotions more, with smaller baskets and 
more frequent visits. 
In the case of our building trade customers, they have  
reduced their advanced ordering as the visibility to  
future projects becomes less clear. Both these 
customers and our Hardware suppliers tell us they 
are experiencing a slowdown in activity and of course 
retailers, members and franchisees are facing the 
same challenges. However, they remain positive about 
the anticipated increase in building projects in the 
medium to long term.
Within our business we are responding to the 
economic climate in which we operate. Costs have 
been well managed, and we’ve delivered savings to 
offset cost of doing business (CODB) inflation ahead 
of those committed. We have delivered excellent 
cash conversion, underpinned by strong working 
capital management.
In that context, I am proud of our FY24 results;  
while we do not control the external environment, 
our team has controlled what we can superbly.  
These results are an indication that our strategy  
is working and continues to deliver improved 
resilience and diversification in the portfolio.  
We have performed at or better than the  
market trends in the markets we compete in.  
The portfolio results are as planned and as we  
would expect in these conditions, if not better.

GROUP FINANCIALS 
Group reported revenue, which excludes  
charge-through sales, increased 0.7% to $15.9bn 
(FY23: $15.8bn). Including charge-through sales, 
Group revenue increased 0.7% to $18.2bn (FY23: 
$18.1bn) with growth in the Hardware and Liquor 
pillars more than offsetting a small decline in the 
Food pillar, driven by lower sales in tobacco. Group 
underlying EBIT decreased by 0.9% to $496.3m 
due to earnings growth in Food and Liquor being 
more than offset by lower earnings in Hardware and 
increased corporate costs. All pillars were supported 
by good operating discipline and the success of 
strategic initiatives, including acquisitions in Hardware. 
Superior Foods will be incorporated into Metcash’s 
FY25 results from 3 June 2024 and will be reported 
within the Food pillar.

Group underlying profit after tax decreased 8.2% to 
$282.3m, reflecting lower earnings in the Hardware 
pillar and increased finance costs. Statutory profit 
after tax decreased 0.7% to $257.2m and includes 
the impact of $25.1m (after tax) of significant items 
in relation to Project Horizon, put option valuation 
adjustments, business acquisition costs and mega 
distribution centre transition costs. 
The Group’s cash flow performance was again a 
standout with operating cashflow increasing $109.9m 
or 29.5% to $482.6m (FY23: $372.7m), with the cash 
realisation ratio ~102% for the year. This results in an 
average three-year cash realisation ratio of ~90%. 
A strong focus on working capital was a key driver of 
the result. Net debt at the end of the financial year 
was $251.9m (FY23: $349.6m), with average net debt 
$582m. The debt leverage ratio (DLR) at the end of 
FY24 was 0.45x (FY23: 0.62x) or 1.03x on average. 
After the end of the financial year the Company paid 
$390m for the purchase of Superior Foods (with 
a potential additional $22.3m earn-out due after 
the end of Superior Foods’ financial year). Metcash 
expects to be in the mid to upper end of its target 
DLR range (1.0x to 1.75x) for the next two years. 
The Board determined to pay a final dividend for 
FY24 of 8.5 cents per share, bringing total dividends 
for the year to 19.5 cents per share fully franked, in 
line with the target payout ratio of approximately 
70% of underlying profit after tax. This represents the 
Company’s strong cash performance balanced with its 
desire to invest in future growth opportunities.

PILLAR FINANCIALS
Food 
Total Food sales (including charge-through and 
excluding tobacco) increased 4.6%, with strong 
growth in both Supermarkets and Campbells & 
Convenience. Including tobacco, total Food sales 
declined 0.5%. In Supermarkets, the business 
continued to perform well in an environment of 
increased value-conscious shopping. Wholesale  
sales excluding tobacco were up 4.7%, underpinned 
by further improvement in network competitiveness 
and inflation. 
The differentiated offer provided by the independent 
network continues to resonate with shoppers, who 
have retained IGA in their shopping repertoire even 
as they increasingly shop around in their search for 
value. Foot traffic into stores increased for the year, 
although items per basket declined. Sales of private 
label products increased 15.5%, and sales of items on 
promotion grew faster than those not on promotion. 
Sales volumes were positive for the year, with growth 
in the second half more than offsetting a small decline 
in the first half. Wholesale price inflation continued to 
moderate with inflation for the year at 4.8% (FY23: 
7.6%), and fourth quarter inflation down to 2.4%.  
The teamwork score ex-tobacco increased 1.6 
percentage points to 69.7% and was flat at ~74% 
including tobacco.
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GROUP CEO’S REPORT CONTINUED

The IGA retail network continued to invest in  
growth and remains healthy, strong and confident. 
There were a record 26 new store openings in the 
year, and 15 closures. Retail like-for-like sales growth 
in the IGA network was +2.2% ex-tobacco. Tobacco 
sales declined 13.9% in the year due to an acceleration 
in illicit trade and the shift to alternatives. 
In Campbells & Convenience, total sales excluding 
tobacco increased 4.0% reflecting stronger sales from 
major banner group customers. I am delighted to 
report that in late June Campbells & Convenience 
won a new supply agreement with Ampol Foodary 
for the provision of grocery products to their retail 
stores. This is a vote of confidence from an important 
new customer and bodes well for our business. Food 
EBIT increased 3.0% to $210.1m, reflecting the strong 
trading performance ex-tobacco, continued strong 
support from suppliers and the effective management 
of costs. The EBIT margin increased 7bps to 2.2%, 
largely reflecting the change in sales mix associated 
with the decline in tobacco sales, as well as good  
cost management.
The strong earnings performance and small margin 
expansion is pleasing under current conditions and 
is another year of evidence that this is a sustainable, 
robust business, operating within a healthy and 
successful independent network. 

Liquor
The Liquor pillar continued to outperform in a more 
challenging market with total sales (including charge-
through) increasing 1.7% to $5.2bn, with growth in 
sales to independent retail and contract customers 
more than offsetting a decline in on-premise sales. 
This really is an exceptional trading performance  
once again for the Liquor pillar, delivering stellar  
sales and EBIT results. This is a market-leading sales 
result in an economic climate characterised by  
de-premiumisation, downtrading to better value 
choices and categories, and increased competition.  
In the face of all of that independents took share. 
An increase in cost-of-living pressures continued to 
drive shopper focus on value, lower consumption 
and a decline in on-premise sales. Wholesale sales 
to retail and contract customers increased 2.2%, 
resulting in further market share gains. Sales growth 
was underpinned by continuation of the increased 
preference for localised offers, providing shoppers 
with conveniently located stores, tailored ranges, 
competitive prices and local friendly service. Sales  
to on-premise customers declined 1.9% in line  
with market trends, albeit some improvement  
was evident in the second half. The highest growth 
categories were again RTDs and beer, with  
cost-of-living pressures driving shopper preference  
for lower priced, better value choices.

Like Food, EBIT margins are underpinned by 
a strong trading result, good cost control, and 
excellent merchandising. Liquor EBIT increased 
4.9% to $109.2m, reflecting the contribution from 
the business’ strong trading performance, strategic 
buying and good cost management. The EBIT margin 
increased 6bps to 2.1%. 

Hardware
The Hardware pillar delivered a pleasing result in 
the face of a rapid slowing in builder confidence 
and reduced market activity. Total Hardware sales 
(including charge-through) increased 2.7% to $3.5bn, 
with growth in Total Tools sales more than offsetting 
a decline in IHG sales. On a like-for-like basis, total 
Hardware sales declined 2.7%. Total sales in the 
combined IHG and Total Tools retail networks 
were flat at $4.5bn. The IHG business withstood 
the challenging conditions to outperform the softer 
addressable market through strong relationships with 
trade customers, the success of the Whole of House 
strategy and an improved DIY offer. Sales for the 
year were broadly flat at $2.8bn and declined 3.0% 
on a like-for-like basis. Scan sales for the IHG retail 
network increased 0.3% (LfL -2.6%) with DIY +2.7% 
and Trade -1.0%.
In the sector served by the Hardware pillar, building, 
DIY, and professional tools, the market has slowed 
significantly. Factors include higher for longer interest 
rates, lower consumer and home buyer confidence, 
builder capacity and viability, cost inflation, and quickly 
slowing product inflation, with some categories now 
in deflation.
In IHG, following a period of sustained exceptional 
sales and profit growth, the consolidation of these 
gains continues. I’m pleased by the second half cost 
out results that supported an EBIT improvement of 
2.7% in H2, compared to the H1 decline of 12.2%. 
Gross margins remained stable in wholesale and 
in retail, but lower volume and CODB pressure 
impacted on retail EBIT margins although these 
remained above pre-COVID levels. 
The IHG business, through excellent customer 
relationships as you would see from the traction 
of the Whole of House strategy, remains ideally 
positioned to capitalise on an improvement in market 
conditions. The strategic position and my confidence 
in our ability to take advantage of an improvement 
in market conditions are further reinforced by our 
recent acquisitions. 

I’m pleased to 
advise that we’ve 
now completed 
all three strategic 
acquisitions – 
Bianco Construction 
Supplies and Alpine 
Truss in March and 
Superior Foods in 
early June.
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In Total Tools, sales increased 16.4% to $679.1m, 
largely reflecting the contribution from new stores 
and additional majority-owned joint venture stores. 
On a like-for-like basis, sales declined 1.3%. Retail 
network sales for Total Tools increased 2.6% to 
$1,112.3m. On a like-for-like basis, sales declined 2.3%, 
reflecting more challenging market conditions and 
intense pricing pressure in the market, particularly 
in the fourth quarter. Foot traffic was down in both 
the first and second half, but customer conversions 
increased, driven by Total Tools’ competitiveness and 
leading market position. The pricing pressure had a 
short-term impact on Total Tools’ gross margin as  
the business responded to protect market share. 
Margins normalised towards the end of the fourth 
quarter following more precise and strategic 
responses by Total Tools. 
Hardware EBIT decreased 3.8% to $210.9m,  
with both IHG and Total Tools delivering lower 
earnings compared to FY23. The year included  
a significant increase in regulatory costs (primarily 
in Victoria), higher labour and occupancy costs, and 
other cost inflation. On a like-for-like basis, Hardware 
EBIT declined 11.0%. In IHG, EBIT decreased 4.9% to 
$129.0m, reflecting the impact of lower sales volumes 
and additional costs. An increase in cost savings 
initiatives in the second half enabled the business  
to offset most of the additional costs and helped 
return the business to EBIT growth for the half.
In Total Tools, EBIT was $81.9m, a decline of 1.9% or 
11.5% on a like-for-like basis, and includes the one-off 
adverse impact associated with its transition to the 
new Ravenhall, Victoria distribution centre in the 
first half, and the increase in competitive intensity 
experienced in the fourth quarter. Total Tools EBIT 
margins continue to trend towards retail levels as 
the proportion of earnings from owned retail stores 
increases. The Hardware EBIT margin was 6.1% with 
IHG 4.6% and Total Tools 12.1%.

STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS
I’m pleased to advise that we’ve now completed  
all three strategic acquisitions – Bianco Construction 
Supplies and Alpine Truss in March and Superior 
Foods at the start of June. Superior further 
strengthens the Food offer and opens new growth 
opportunities in the adjacent food service market. 
The acquisitions of Bianco and Alpine support IHG’s 
Whole of House strategy and strengthen our market 
position. Superior is on track to earn a full earnout 
and is performing well.

LOOKING FORWARD
Looking ahead to FY25, our immediate priorities 
are integrating and extracting the synergies from 
our recent acquisitions, completing and moving into 
the new distribution centre in Truganina, Victoria, 
and progressing on our core technology programs, 
including Horizon where we’re making steady 
progress and costs remain well-managed.  
This does remain a large and complex program,  
and we continue to be focused on balancing cost, 
time, quality and risk to deliver the project. 
So, together with the team I’m pleased to share 
where we are, the position we are in, and I’m thrilled 
and excited by the opportunities before us. 

THANKS
The execution by each of the Pillars of their strategy 
has underpinned their performance and I would like 
to thank our team for their dedication and effort in 
navigating the challenging market conditions to deliver 
great results again this year. 
I would also like to recognise and thank our 
independent partners for their support. Across 
all pillars our alignment and relationships with our 
customers remain strong, even in these testing 
times. Our independent retailers really are a national 
treasure, and we are proud to support and continue 
to champion them all.

Doug Jones 
Group CEO

Metcash’s new distribution centre at Truganina, Victoria

17About Pillars Sustainability Our People Directors’ Report Financial ReportReports



Five year review 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

Financial Performance

Reported sales revenue ($m) 15,912.4 15,803.4 15,164.8  14,315.3  13,025.4 
Sales revenue (including charge-through sales) ($m)  18,179.1  18,052.4  17,405.7  16,361.1  14,857.1 
Underlying EBIT ($m) 496.3 500.8 472.3  401.4  334.9 
EBIT margin (%) 2.7 2.8 2.7  2.4  2.2 
Net finance costs ($m) (92.6) (64.7) (48.5) (42.6) (52.0)
Underlying profit after tax ($m) 282.3 307.5 299.6 252.7 198.8
Reported profit/(loss) after tax ($m) 257.2 259.0 245.4 239.0 (56.8)
Operating cash flows ($m) 482.6 372.7 432.3 475.5 117.5
Cash realisation ratio1 (%) 102% 77% 91% 114% 33%
Financial Position

Shareholders’ equity ($m) 1,528.4 1,085.1 1,090.4  1,291.1  1,371.6 
Net cash/(debt) ($m) (251.9) (349.6) (189.0) 124.6 86.7
Gearing ratio2 (%) 14.2% 24.4% 14.8% (10.7%) (6.7%)
Debt leverage ratio3 0.45x 0.62x 0.36x (0.27x) (0.22x)
Return on funds employed4 (%) 25.9% 29.6% 31.0% 28.7% 24.9%
Share Statistics

Fully paid ordinary shares 997.1 965.5 965.5  1,022.4  1,016.4 
Weighted average ordinary shares 970.2 965.5 982.8  1,021.9 910.1
Underlying earnings per share (cents) 28.3 31.8 30.5 24.7 21.8
Reported earnings/(loss) per share (cents) 25.8 26.8 25.0 23.4 (6.2)
Dividends declared per share (cents) 19.5 22.5 21.5 17.5 12.5
Dividend payout ratio (%) 71% 70% 70% 71% 57%
Other Statistics

Number of employees5 10,045 9,174 8,702 8,327 7,159

1.	 Cash flows from operations/Underlying NPAT + Depreciation and Amortisation (depreciation and amortisation not tax effected).
2.	 Net Debt/(Shareholders’ Equity + Net Debt).
3.	 Net Debt/(EBITDA + depreciation of right-of-use-assets).
4.	 Underlying EBIT/Average funds employed.
5.	 FY20 to FY23 data has been amended from being previously disclosed on an FTE basis to an actual headcount basis.

FINANCIAL  
OVERVIEW
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RECENT  
ACQUISITIONS
In addition to increasing its ownership of Total Tools from 85% 
to 100% in late November 2023, Metcash announced three 
strategically aligned acquisitions in the second half of FY24 
delivering the Company further diversification and resilience, 
and an even stronger growth trajectory.

FOODSERVICE MARKET

SUPERIOR FOODS
The acquisition of Superior 
Foods, a leading Australian 
foodservice distribution business, 
was announced to the market in 
February 2024 and completed in  
June 2024 – cementing Metcash’s 
position as the largest wholesaler 
and distributor of food to 
independent businesses in Australia.

Superior Foods services corporate and independent 
businesses across Australia in a diverse range of 
markets including quick service restaurants,  
corporate caterers, cafes, restaurants and hotels.  
A complementary business to our existing 
foodservice offering, the acquisition of Superior Foods 
is a logical extension of our Food strategy. 
The Superior Foods acquisition provides an exciting 
opportunity to further strengthen and diversify 
the Metcash Food offering by combining assets and 
supply chains. Superior Foods has 23 branches across 
Australia with total warehouse space of ~80,000 
sqm, as well as a fleet of ~290 vehicles performing 
~670,000 deliveries annually.
Beyond initial synergies to be realised, the acquisition 
brings many benefits for both Metcash and Superior 
Foods’ independent customers. Our customers will 
benefit from an expanded catalogue and being able 
to access more items more often, while suppliers will 
also benefit from access to a larger customer base.
The food service industry is a fast-growing market, 
underpinned by favourable long-term consumer 
trends towards convenience and out-of-home dining, 
which strategically positions Metcash to capitalise on 
new growth opportunities. 

INDUSTRY LEADER
Foodservice market  
expected to grow strongly

A WIDE RANGE OF PRODUCTS
Servicing a broad range of customers  
across the foodservice sector

FOODSERVICE PARTNERSHIPS
National distribution network

~$14m+
EXPECTED 
ANNUALISED 
SYNERGIES1

~20k
CUSTOMERS

~600
SUPPLIERS

1.	 At end of year 2 post acquisition.

Doug Jones, CEO Metcash Group with  
IGA and Superior Foods truck drivers
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HARDWARE

ALPINE TRUSS
Alpine Truss is renowned for its strong heritage 
and established relationships, coupled with a strong 
reputation for producing leading quality products. 
The largest frame and truss facility in the IHG 
network, Alpine Truss adds significant capacity to our 
operations and substantially enhances our offering in 
Victoria, southern New South Wales, and entry into 
the ACT market. Importantly, this strategic acquisition 
allows us to scale operations with minimal investment, 
further solidifying our market presence and offering.

~$2.7m
EXPECTED 
ANNUALISED 
SYNERGIES 

BIANCO CONSTRUCTION SUPPLIES
The acquisition of Bianco Construction Supplies,  
a construction and industrial supplies business  
serving the South Australia and Northern Territory 
trade markets, significantly boosts our share of the 
trade market in South Australia (>14%).
This strategic acquisition strengthens IHG’s  
‘Whole of House’ offering and enhances our  
customer proposition in those markets, particularly 
during the foundation stage of construction projects.  
The Bianco brand is to be retained, which will assist us 
to achieve substantial scale with minimal investment. 

~$2.4m
EXPECTED 
ANNUALISED 
SYNERGIES 

Both Hardware acquisitions announced in February 2024, 
completed in March 2024, are examples of consolidation in the 
fragmented hardware market and are highly complementary 
to our existing IHG business. These acquisitions support 
IHG’s ‘Whole of House’ strategy, to supply at least 50% 
of the house build through all stages of construction, 
as well as its network expansion strategy. 
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INDEPENDENT HARDWARE GROUP (IHG)
IHG is the leading wholesale 
partner to independent hardware 
stores and is the second-largest 
player in the Australian hardware 
market. Established in 1959 
as a buying group for a small  
cohort of hardware stores,  
IHG’s Mitre 10 brand celebrates  
its 65th anniversary in 2024. 

IHG remains dedicated to its rich heritage of 
building successful independents. Today, the 
IHG network comprises ~610 bannered stores, 
predominantly operating under the Mitre 10 and 
Home Hardware brands, generating network sales 
of ~$2.8 billion in FY24. IHG supports the largest 
network of independent hardware stores in Australia, 
including an additional ~950 unbannered stores and 
24 frame and truss facilities. 
With a diverse portfolio of entrepreneurial store 
owners and strategic initiatives helping Australians 
build great houses and turning houses into homes, 
growing both Trade and DIY customers, Hardware 
pillar (IHG and Total Tools) earnings have grown 
150% since 2020. The Company has outperformed 
in a softer construction market in FY24 and is well 
positioned to capitalise on improved activity levels. 

Network growth
IHG has a strong track record of successful 
acquisitions and continues to be a natural consolidator 
in a highly fragmented market, supported by the 
recent acquisitions of Bianco Construction Supplies 
and Alpine Truss. 
The strategic combination of independent, joint-
venture (JV) and Company-owned retail stores is 
pivotal to IHG’s growth, protecting and enhancing 
the network while boosting wholesale sales and 
improving store profitability. This retail strategy not 
only benefits independent retailers but also supports 
Metcash, reinforcing the network and facilitating its 
expansion. The network now consists of ~150 JV 
and Company-owned sites, encompassing Bianco 
Construction Supplies and Alpine Truss sites.

The IHG network continues to grow with 42 new 
independent families joining the Group in the last 
three years. With a target of five new bannered 
store openings per year, this continued expansion 
will be facilitated through various ownership models, 
including JV and Company-owned stores. IHG has 
identified over 200 potential new site opportunities, 
leveraging a mix of strategies such as consolidation 
of existing sites, redevelopment of ‘brownfield’ 
locations, and development of new ‘greenfield’ sites. 
This varied approach will ensure the continuation 
of a sustainable growth trajectory for the network.

Growth through collaboration
Network growth is also driven through collaboration 
between Mitre 10 and Total Tools stores. By setting 
up side-by-side in one location, a combined Mitre 10 
and Total Tools site can deliver a strong regional offer 
and attract a broader customer base by appealing to 
both DIY enthusiasts and professional tradespeople. 
Joint locations also drive floor space productivity by 
optimising the use of retail space and enhancing the 
shopping experience. 
With 10 stores already operational and four 
additional sites in the pipeline – this partnership 
is well established and continues to expand. This 
collaborative offering not only provides a better 
experience for customers by providing a more 
comprehensive product range and expertise but also 
drives positive sales and EBIT results, ensuring strong 
financial returns for both entities.

Build Trade – helping Australians build 
great houses
In Trade, IHG continues to focus on servicing 
the small‑medium home builder market and has 
performed well in difficult conditions, well above  
the housing market. 
Currently, IHG supplies 46% of the house build, from 
foundations through to fit-out, with a target to supply 
at least 50% through its Whole of House strategy. 
Our growing network of frame and truss facilities 
are integral to this strategy, with the acquisition of 
Alpine Truss extending these services to customers 
in the Victorian, ACT, and southern NSW markets. 
While our network of 50 Sapphire-standard 
standalone trade centres has further strengthened 
our market presence.

NATIONAL 
DISTRIBUTION 

NETWORK

	� Distribution centres

HARDWARE

ANNETTE WELSH

374

151

118

Hardware

CEO, INDEPENDENT  
HARDWARE GROUP

BANNERED STORES

91
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Grow DIY – turning houses into 
family homes
We continue to increase our share of the DIY market, 
with sales growth well above market. We do this 
by offering a differentiated product range through 
exclusive and private brands, as well as providing 
DIY customers with a high-level of customer service 
across all channels – in home, in store and online. 
The Sapphire store strategy continues to deliver 
growth in DIY, helping our retailers be the ‘Best 
Store in Their Town’. There are now 222 stores in the 
network that have completed upgrades under the 
Sapphire program, with 32 stores upgraded in 2024. 
On average, stores have seen >24% sales lift over  
three years after completing the store upgrade. 
Design10 showrooms continue to provide a 
differentiated experience for both consumers 
and builders, setting new standards in customer 
engagement and service excellence.

Digital, data and insights 
Our digital enablement programs have not only 
improved the online experience for both DIY and 
trade customers but also boosted productivity across 
the network and supply chain.
Consumer led insights from our loyalty programs 
and e-commerce platforms have further enhanced 
the customer experience. We’ve increased the 
number of active members in our loyalty program by 
+9% to ~1.75 million in FY24. In addition, we’ve seen 
a lift in sales from loyalty members of +7% since last 
financial year. 

SALES REVENUE 
(INCLUDING CHARGE-THROUGH)

$3.5bn
68% since FY20 

(Reported $2.5bn)

2.7%

CASE STUDY 
GUBBINS PULBROOK MITRE 10 GROUP
Nick Gubbins and Steve Pulbrook have been serving trade 
customers in the Southern Highlands and South Coast region 
for over a decade, with Moss Vale Mitre 10 recently celebrating 
its 10-year anniversary. They’ve also recently opened a Total 
Tools store in Mittagong.

The pair came together to create the Gubbins Pulbrook Mitre 10 Group in 2018 
when IHG approached them with an opportunity to purchase additional sites in 
the area and Nick and Steve saw benefit in joining forces. Initially attracted to the 
strength of the Mitre 10 brand and model, Gubbins Pulbrook now operates five 
stores in the Southern Highlands and South Coast region, with their successful 
expansion spurred on by the Sapphire program.
Completing the Sapphire store upgrade program in their Milton and Moss Vale 
stores was a ‘no brainer’, as they knew with a tried and tested model their stores 
would be at a standard that would guarantee they were the ‘Best Store in Their Town’. 

Gubbins Pulbrook Mitre 10, Milton, NSW
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TOTAL TOOLS
Metcash increased its ownership 
in Total Tools Holdings, the 
largest professional tools retailer 
in Australia, from 85% to 100% 
in late November 2023. 

With a wide range supported by long-term 
supplier partnerships, Total Tools services a broad 
customer base across industries including housing, 
refurbishment, renovation, service, maintenance  
and infrastructure. 
Since Metcash acquired majority ownership in 
2020, the business has delivered remarkable growth 
with annual sales in the retail network doubling 
from $585m in FY20 to $1.1bn in FY24. Leveraging 
Metcash’s platform and capabilities has resulted in 
strong returns over the past three years.

Store network 
Consistent with the successful approach in 
IHG, Metcash’s growth strategy for Total Tools 
includes a diverse network structure with a mix of 
independently owned and joint venture retail stores. 
The Company maintains a strong focus on supporting 
its franchise and retail network, with joint ventures 
now comprising ~45% of its store network. 
A key driver of growth has been the expansion 
of the retail store network, with 8 new stores 
opened in FY24. Total Tools is on track to deliver 
its ambitious growth plans of 145 stores by FY26, 
with a longer‑term target of 170+ stores.

Retailer of choice for major tool 
distribution partners
With strong and entrenched relationships with most 
major tool distribution partners, Total Tools is the 
largest professional tool specialist retailer in ANZ 
for many of our distribution partners. Total Tools is 
positioned well to capitalise on opportunities in the 
expanding outdoor cordless and commercial markets, 
with a presence in all major tool categories. 

Digital platforms
Total Tools offers a strong omni-channel shopping 
experience through physical stores, online platforms 
and a mobile app. Data insights driven by a single ERP 
drive fast and effective decision making across the 
business, boosting efficiencies and productivity. 
‘Insiders rewards’, Total Tools’ market-leading  
loyalty program, drives high customer engagement 
(NPS 80%+) and accounts for over 90% of sales.

HARDWARE CONTINUED

TOTAL NETWORK SALES

$1.1bn
Retail network sales 

~100% since 2019

2.6%

RICHARD MURRAY
CEO, TOTAL TOOLS
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Total Tools, Richmond. VIC
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Metcash Food is the largest supplier 
to independent food businesses in 
Australia. We service a network of 
~1,280 IGA bannered independent 
supermarkets, including those that 
operate under the Foodland and 
Supa Valu brands. We provide them 
with marketing and operational 
support so they can be the ‘Best 
Store in Their Town’. We also 
supply many other independent 
supermarkets across the country, 
trading under various other brands. 

Through Campbells and our convenience business, 
we are a leading wholesale food distributor serving 
multiple non-supermarket channels such as service 
stations and convenience stores. The acquisition of 
Superior Foods extends our distribution to include 
foodservice and hospitality outlets nationwide. 
Post-acquisition of Superior Foods, our business has 
become more diverse, with a much broader base 
of sales across convenience and foodservice, as well 
as our supermarket business. We have transformed 
from a traditional food wholesaler to an integrated 
wholesaler, banner-operator and retailer, with 
stronger customer and supplier relationships. 
The business has continued to grow post-COVID 
with sales up 25% since 2020, supported by better 
stores and better value for shoppers. We continue  
to focus on growing market share and accelerating 
our growth by expanding the store network and 
improving store sales. We opened 26 stores during 
the year.

STRENGTHENING THE STORE NETWORK
In addition to expanding the network, we have 
continued to focus on improving the competitiveness 
of the store network by lifting our store standards 
and offering better value to shoppers, which has 
never been more important with the increase 
in value-conscious shoppers in the current 
cost‑of‑living crisis.

By working closely with suppliers we’ve been able 
to continue to deliver great value through our Low 
Price Every Day and Price Match programs, and we’re 
pleased that shoppers have responded by keeping 
IGA in their repertoire of stores and visiting us more 
often. We have also seen increased distribution for 
our private label Community Co and Black & Gold 
ranges, leading to sales growth of over 15% in FY24.
Our independent retailers continue to support our 
growth strategies by reinvesting in their stores, with an 
additional 120 stores completing the Diamond Store 
Accelerator store upgrade program during the year. 
We also saw continued increase in adoption of the IGA 
Rewards loyalty program, with 775 stores now live.

FURTHER GROWTH THROUGH 
DIGITAL PLATFORMS 
Sorted is both a digital B2B marketplace and a provider 
of value-added services, with the aim of becoming 
a ‘one stop shop’ for Metcash retailers. Customers 
using Sorted have access to a wide product range 
from not only our own warehouses but also to the 
extensive catalogues of direct-to-store suppliers who 
use our established Charge Through process, with 
over 80,000 lines now available on the platform.
We have seen an acceleration in the take‑up of Sorted 
over the last year with 98% of charge‑through orders 
now captured by the platform. Over 1,000 stores 
have integrated their back-office systems with Sorted, 
making it far more efficient to manage direct‑to-store 
products, track pricing and orders, process invoices and 
resolve claims. The two-way information also provides 
valuable insights including products that are performing 
well in other stores. 
A selected range of Superior Foods products are now 
available to IGA customers on the platform, and Sorted 
will become the digital platform for Campbells and  
ALM customers in 2025, taking the number of Metcash 
customers on the platform to ~50,000. 

INDEPENDENT MEDIA CENTRE
We continue to develop our independent retail 
media network, connecting suppliers to shoppers, 
to unlock significant revenue opportunities for 
independents. An independent retail media network 
will enable suppliers to advertise to thousands 
of local communities and small businesses across 
Australia. The Food business completed a successful 
pilot of in‑store screens in the second half of FY24, 
with positive results. 

FOOD NATIONAL 
DISTRIBUTION 

NETWORK

FOOD

391 
(Small format IGA)

	� Major distribution 
centres

	� Regional distribution 
centres

4

16

Food

GRANT RAMAGE
CEO, METCASH FOOD

BANNERED STORES

886 
(Large and Medium format)
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CASE STUDY 
GREG RICE — THE MARKET PLACE  
BALLAJURA IGA
Greg Rice is the owner of The Market Place 
Ballajura IGA in Perth, WA and is Chair of 
the IGA WA State Board.

“�The Sorted platform has helped us connect with 
suppliers and products that we didn’t even know 
existed. It’s been really beneficial.

“�Traditionally, we would talk to individual suppliers, 
ring them up, ask them what the price is, and what 
they’ve got in stock; but now we can find out all the 
list of products in one place. We can find out all their 
pricing straight away and we can make an order within 
a couple of minutes.

“�The most valuable feature that I’ve found is being able 
to do orders on the floor with our ordering device 
and then being able to submit them on the fly.”

SALES REVENUE1 
(INCLUDING CHARGE-THROUGH)

$9.6bn
25% since FY20 (ex-tobacco)

0.5% (Reported $8.3bn)

Greg Rice

The Market Place IGA, Ballajura, WA 1.	 Excludes sales to 7-11 and Drakes supermarkets
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Australian Liquor Marketers (ALM), 
the wholesale arm of the Liquor 
pillar, has a strong market position 
as the second-largest supplier 
of liquor in Australia, supplying 
~85% of independent liquor stores 
nationwide. In addition to supplying 
liquor stores, ALM’s on-premise 
liquor division supplies bars, pubs, 
restaurants and hotels. 

Operating under our Independent Banner Group 
(IBA) there is a strong group of national retail 
brands including Cellarbrations, Bottle-O, Porters 
and IGA Liquor. IBA is the largest network of 
bannered independent liquor stores in Australia 
and New Zealand, with >1,750 stores. We support 
IBA bannered retailers through a framework that 
offers national buying power, marketing support, 
shopper-focused promotional programs and network 
investment to provide ‘The Best Store in Their Town’. 
We support independent businesses with a 
competitively priced and extensive liquor range, 
delivered through our cost-effective and efficient 
supply chain. Our shared distribution network with 
the Food pillar provides wholesale scale for our 
competitive advantage – we are the only scaled 
national logistics network serving independents 
in liquor. 
Liquor has achieved significant growth and continued 
to gain market share in recent years with sales up 
40% since 2020. With large contract customers in 
both retail and on-premise, a diverse customer base 
means the business is well-positioned to adapt to 
changes in consumer demand and trends. 

DIFFERENTIATED SHOPPER VALUE
Our retail locations are convenient, with local 
ranging tailored to each local market, as well as local 
knowledgeable and friendly service. We continue to 
grow the IBA store network, with 14 Tier 1 bannered 
stores joining in the last 12 months.
Cost-of-living pressures have driven an increased 
focus on value in store, and our growing range of 
owned and exclusive (O&E) products help our 
retailers by providing improved margins and a point 
of difference to help them compete against the major 
chains by providing exceptional value to shoppers.
Our purpose of Championing Successful Independents 
extends to our suppliers – in the last three years alone 
we have onboarded ~420 new suppliers, including 
many small and independent businesses. Diversifying 
our supplier base supports a differentiated and tailored 
range in-store for shoppers.

PLATINUM PROGRAM 
We have continued to see strong collaboration and 
commitment between retailers, suppliers and IBA 
with the pilot of our Platinum program. This strategic 
initiative focuses on improving store standards, growing 
our loyalty programs and providing better quality data 
and insights. As a result, the program increases value 
for shoppers, improves sales and margins for retailers, 
provides better return-on-investment for suppliers  
and increases volumes for IBA.
As part of the Platinum Program, we continue to 
improve the store experience with the rollout of our 
best-in-class store fit-outs and coolroom upgrades, 
with stores experiencing an average sales uplift of 
13% after completing the program. 
Our eCommerce and loyalty programs have driven 
better quality data and insights. There are now 231 
stores participating in the IBA loyalty program, with 
more in the pipeline, and +41,000 loyalty members, 
with membership numbers continuing to grow.  
Our rollout of ALM R.O.S.S (Retailer One Stop Shop) 
is now complete, making it frictionless for our retailers 
to do business with us. 
Further growth opportunities are underpinned by an 
acceleration of our Network of the Future program 
and our ‘extended aisle’ offering through the launch 
of ALM Connect, our supplier portal, on Sorted, our 
B2B marketplace for Food and Liquor. Launching ALM 
Connect on Sorted significantly speeds up supplier 
onboarding and improves back-office processes for 
both our customers and suppliers.

ALM  
DISTRIBUTION  

CENTRES 

LIQUOR

	 Distribution centres

511

264

473

30

131

KYLIE WALLBRIDGE
CEO, AUSTRALIAN  
LIQUOR MARKETERS

IBA TIER ONE 
STORES
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CASE STUDY 
CELLARBRATIONS, CROYDON, VIC
Earlier this year, Fiona Duan and her 
husband, Leon Wang, opened their first 
Cellarbrations store in Croydon, Victoria 
after spotting an opportunity in the local 
market for a high‑quality liquor store.

Locals to the area, they chose the Cellarbrations 
banner because of its alignment with the quality image 
they wanted for their store and for their community. 
Committed to supporting local producers, they have  
included offerings from Coldstream vineyards and  
plan to expand their local range, given their proximity  
to the Yarra Valley wine region.
The community response has been overwhelmingly 
positive, with shoppers appreciating the presence 
of a new, independently-owned liquor store in their 
area, that not only looks great but also supports the 
local economy. 
Encouraged by their initial success in Croydon, 
Fiona and her husband are already looking to expand 
their operations with a second store in Elsternwick 
set to open later this year.

SALES REVENUE 
(INCLUDING CHARGE-THROUGH)

$5.2bn
40% since FY20

1.7% (Reported $5.1bn)

Fiona Duan

Cellarbrations, Croydon, VIC

29About Reports Sustainability Our People Directors’ Report Financial ReportPillars



We have continued to make 
significant progress in FY24 towards 
our long‑term sustainability targets 
and in improving our ESG credentials. 
This progress was reflected in the 
Dow Jones Sustainability Index, 
which positioned Metcash in the 
89th percentile, up from the 87th 
percentile in FY23. Our improvement 
in this broad metric demonstrates 
our ongoing efforts to create a 
sustainable future by implementing 
responsible business practices 
across the organisation.

In preparation for the anticipated requirement to  
report under the new Australian Sustainability Reporting 
Standards(ASRS 2 Climate‑related Financial Disclosures)  
we completed a review of the standards and its alignment  
to our existing reporting practices, which to date have been  
guided by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and Task Force  
on Climate Financial Disclosures (TCFD). A cross functional 
working group has been established to address identified gaps 
in the core areas of governance, strategy, risk management and 
metrics and targets, to ensure we comply with ASRS requirements 
by FY26. This will also mean a shift in reporting of environmental 
performance data periods to align with the Metcash financial year 
and obtaining assurance in line with ASRS requirements.
For further detail, please refer to the full Sustainability Report 
published on our website (www.metcash.com/sustainability)  
in late August 2024.

OUR PEOPLE

SUSTAINABILITY 
HIGHLIGHTS

We remain committed to creating an 
inclusive and equitable workplace and are 
pleased to have maintained a neutral gender 
pay gap of ~1% across the organisation. 

We were recognised by Equileap in their Top 100 
companies globally for gender equality, ranking 
45th in 2024. 
We have also successfully achieved our 
gender diversity target of 40:40:20, 
with the following representation:

	– Metcash Board: 50%
	– Group Leadership Team (GLT): >50%
	– Key Management Personnel (KMP),  

Executives, and General Managers (GM): 42%

Our key safety measure, the Total Recordable Injury 
Frequency Rate (TRIFR), has shown significant 
improvement, recording a 21% year-on-year 
decrease to 14.32. This reflects our continuous 
efforts to ensure a safe working environment for 
all employees, and reflects our revised Safety, 
Health and Environment (SHE) strategy.
Our engagement survey results have placed us in 
the 70th percentile of internationally benchmarked 
companies for TEC employees, with a score of 
58% up from 57% in FY23. This improvement in 
employee satisfaction highlights our continued 
efforts to ensure Metcash is considered a 
‘favourite place to work’. 

ENGAGEMENT SURVEY RESULTS

58% 70TH
ENGAGEMENT  
SCORE

PERCENTILE  
INTERNATIONALLY

GENDER PAY GAP

~1%
GENDER EQUALITY
2024 EQUILEAP  
TOP 100 COMPANIES
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OUR PLANET OUR COMMUNITY AND CUSTOMERS

We are committed to supporting the 
community to address issues such as 
food security.

Through our partnerships with Foodbank, 
OzHarvest and Food4Change, we have provided 
over 2.6 million meals to those in need in FY24. 
Our IGA stores also contributed over $2.7m to 
approximately 1,600 organisations this year as 
part of the IGA Community Chest program.
We were the first supermarket business to join 
the National Plastics Recycling Scheme in January 
2024, which supports a solution that facilitates 
maximum uptake on soft plastics recycling across 
the community and therefore the best chance 
for a closed loop on plastic. This initiative aligns 
with our broader sustainability goals and our 
support for national targets for increased material 
recovery and an improved circular economy.
Metcash remains focused on reviewing and 
addressing modern slavery risks in our operations 
and supply chain through continuous improvement in 
governance, policy and monitoring. Our progress in 
this area was recognised by the independent Modern 
Slavery Statement Disclosure Quality Assessment 
by Monash University, where we received an 
improved ‘B’ rating in its latest review. 
Our sustainability efforts in FY24 have continued to 
progress across the board, creating a positive impact 
on our people, the planet and the community. 

We have met our interim 2030 
emissions target for FY24, reducing 
our emissions to 69,695 tCO2e, which 
represents a 5.2% decrease from FY23.

This achievement underscores our efforts 
to reduce our carbon footprint and our 
longer‑term goal of 2040 net-zero emissions 
reduction target for Scope 1 and Scope 2. 
In Scope 3, we’ve continued to expand our 
data capture and methodologies across 
greenhouse gas (GHG) protocol categories, 
including end‑of‑life treatment of sold products.
We continue to work towards our 
waste‑to‑landfill diversion target of 80% by 2028, 
with an interim achievement of 65.9% in FY24. 
To assist in driving our waste avoidance and 
recycling goals, Metcash obtained a $500,000 grant 
from the NSW Environment Protection Authority 
under its Bin Trim Networks Program in late 
2023. Metcash was one of just 14 companies 
selected to participate in the three‑year program, 
which aims to divert 35,000 tonnes of waste 
from landfill each year by helping businesses 
implement circular economy solutions.
We have made considerable progress toward, 
and are on track to meet, our 2025 responsible 
sourcing commitments for palm oil, seafood, 
cocoa, paper‑based products, animal welfare, 
eggs and coffee. 

EMISSIONS TARGET

5.2%
decrease

SUPPORTING
NATIONAL PLASTICS 
RECYCLING SCHEME

WASTE-TO-LANDFILL 
DIVERSION RATIO

65.9%

IGA COMMUNITY 
CHEST DONATIONS

$2.7m
MODERN SLAVERY STATEMENT DISCLOSURE

‘B’ rating
NSW BIN TRIM GRANT

$500K
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BCom, CA(SA) GAICD
Doug is an experienced 
executive with extensive 
wholesale, retail and 
eCommerce experience  
in Canada, South Africa  
and Australia. 
He has held senior finance, 
supply chain and general 
management roles at Makro SA, 
Massmart Limited, Amalgamated 
Beverages Industries Limited and 
The South African Breweries, 
all in Johannesburg, Coca-Cola 
Enterprises in Canada, and 
Deloitte in both Canada and 
South Africa. 
He is a Chartered Accountant 
having qualified in South Africa, 
and registered in both South 
Africa and Australia and is a 
Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

MBA, CA(SA)
Deepa joined Metcash in  
January 2024. She has  
extensive finance and  
industry experience spanning 
over 20 years. In addition to 
finance, Deepa has significant 
senior leadership experience 
across strategy, mergers and 
acquisitions, digital, information 
technology and integration.
Most recently, Deepa held the 
position of Chief Financial Officer 
of the largest FMCG company in 
Africa, Tiger Consumer Brands 
Limited. Prior to Tiger Consumer 
Brands, Deepa held senior 
leadership roles with Walmart’s 
South Africa-based subsidiary 
Massmart. These included Interim 
CEO of Masscash, Finance 
and Commercial Director of 
Masswarehouse, Chief Strategy 
and Integration Officer of 
Massmart Wholesale and CFO 
of Makro SA, all divisions of 
Massmart. She also held senior 
finance roles with Mondelēz 
International and Samsung 
Electronics South Africa.

Grant was promoted to CEO 
of Metcash Food in 2023 after 
four years as Executive General 
Manager, Merchandise, and 
a further four years as State 
General Manager, Supermarkets 
in WA. He has been a key 
contributor to the strong 
performance of both the Food 
pillar and the IGA network in 
recent years, working closely 
with leading retailers and 
suppliers to improve IGA’s 
competitive position and deliver 
sustainable growth.
Prior to joining Metcash in 
2015, Grant held several 
senior roles at Coles Liquor 
across merchandise, marketing, 
operational leadership,  
business development,  
critical projects and exclusive 
brands. His earlier career 
included 10 years with Oddbins, 
the UK’s then pre-eminent 
Wine Merchant, initially in  
retail stores and then in buying.

Annette is a highly regarded 
executive with over 30 years  
of global experience across 
retail, wholesale and logistics.
Annette was appointed CEO  
of Independent Hardware 
Group in 2020, and in the 
decade prior held several  
senior roles at Metcash in 
Hardware, including General 
Manager, Operations and 
General Manager, Merchandise.
Prior to joining Metcash in 
2010, Annette held senior 
management positions at  
Marks & Spencer in the UK 
and IBM.

Richard is a highly experienced 
and respected executive 
with a proven track record in 
the Australian retail sector. 
His career includes close to 
two decades with JB Hi-Fi, 
including seven years as CEO 
where he delivered significant 
growth, transformation and 
shareholder value.
Most recently, Richard was 
Premier Investments CEO 
Retail from 2021 to 2023 
where he achieved record sales 
and earnings in a challenging 
post‑COVID environment.

BSc Hons, FCA, MAICD
Member of the Safety and 
Sustainability Committee 
and the Technology Advisory 
Working Group

BCom, Accounting, Tax,  
Auditing, Information Systems,  
CA (SA), GAICD

BA, FAICD
Chair of the People, Culture 
and Nomination Committee 
and member of the Technology 
Advisory Working Group

MBA, PG Dip Mgt, GAICD
Chair of the Safety and 
Sustainability Committee and 
member of the Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Committee

BCom, CPA, FCA, FAICD
Member of the Audit, Risk 
and Compliance Committee, 
and Chair of the Technology 
Advisory Working Group 

OUR PEOPLE

OUR BOARD

Doug Jones
CEO, Metcash Group

Deepa Sita 
CFO, Metcash Group

Grant Ramage 
CEO, Metcash Food

Annette Welsh 
CEO, Independent 
Hardware Group

Richard Murray 
CEO, Total Tools 

Peter Birtles
Non-executive Chairman

Doug Jones
Group CEO,  
Executive Director

Mark Johnson
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Margaret Haseltine
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Christine Holman
Independent  
Non-executive Director
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BCom
Kylie has more than 25 years 
of commercial, brand and 
marketing experience in the 
Australian and global liquor 
industries. Prior to joining 
Metcash, Kylie was Managing 
Director at Diageo in the 
United Kingdom where she was 
responsible for the global Rare 
Spirits, Private Client, Wine 
and Scottish Tourism and Retail 
businesses. Kylie also previously 
held the position of Managing 
Director of Diageo in Japan.
In addition to Diageo, Kylie 
has worked for multinational 
liquor organisations and brands 
including Heineken for 13 
years and Lion for seven years, 
in several senior roles across 
Africa, Asia and Australia.

M.Sc. Engineering
Prior to joining Metcash in 
October 2022, Marij was  
the SVP and Global CIO of 
The Bountiful Company (now 
part of Nestle Health Science). 
Previously, she worked at 
Dairy Farmers of America, 
where she led a comprehensive 
program of simplification 
and optimisation to deliver 
expanded services and value 
to the ‘fiercely independent’ 
member network.
Marij’s professional career 
started in the early days of SAP 
in Germany, and she has held 
several IT leadership roles over 
the years covering IT strategy, 
applications modernisation, 
IT business operations 
improvement, shared service, 
agile transformation, cloud 
migration, data management, 
security/compliance, digital 
commerce, and analytics.

MBA (Mkt), BDes (Vis Comm)
In 2023 Danielle was promoted 
to Group Chief People & 
Culture Officer, from her 
previous roles as General 
Manager of Marketing and 
Executive General Manager  
of Retail, Metcash Food.
Prior to joining Metcash in  
2018, Danielle held positions 
with Woolworths, Goodman 
Fielder and L’Oreal UK.
Danielle has over 20 years 
of industry experience 
with suppliers, retailers and 
wholesalers. She’s held a variety 
of leadership roles spanning 
sales, commercial, marketing 
and operations, in both 
Australia and UK markets.

B Asian Studies (Viet), LLB, 
LLM, GAICD
Julie joined Metcash in  
2016 from law firm Baker  
& McKenzie, where she  
was a partner who  
specialised in mergers and 
acquisitions, private equity 
and corporate restructures.
Julie is a Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and was formerly 
a Non-executive Director of 
AVCAL, a national association 
which represents the private 
equity and venture capital 
industries in Australia.

MPA and MAICD
Member of the People,  
Culture and Nomination 
Committee and Safety and 
Sustainability Committee 

BA Hons, GAICD
Chair of the Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Committee and 
member of the People, Culture 
and Nomination Committee

B Asian Studies (Viet), LLB,  
LLM, GAICD

Kylie Wallbridge 
CEO, Australian 
Liquor Marketers 

Marij Kouwenhoven 
Chief Technology Officer, 
Metcash Group

Danielle Jenkinson 
Group Chief People & Culture 
Officer, Metcash Group

Julie Hutton 
Chief Legal, Risk and Compliance 
Officer & Company Secretary, 
Metcash Group

Murray Jordan
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Helen Nash
Independent  
Non-executive Director

Julie Hutton
Company Secretary
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Your Directors submit their report of Metcash Limited (the ‘Company’) and its controlled entities (together the ‘Group’ or ‘Metcash’) for 
(‘FY2 ’). 

 METCASH’S 
Metcash is Australia’s leading wholesaler and distributor, supplying and supporting 

pillars. Metcash’s 
retail customers operate some of Australia’s leading independent brands including: IGA, Foodland, Mitre 10, Home Hardware, To

We help them to be the ‘Best Store in Town’ by providing me

chains and other competitors. The Group’s core competencies include: procurement, logistics, marketing, retail development

 
Metcash’s purpose is ‘ ’

Metcash’s vision includes:

− 
− 
− 
− 
− 
− 
At the core of Metcash’s strategy is to 

Metcash’s own ’
to Metcash’s retailer

Metcash’s strategy to nurture brands and formats that shoppers love to 
’s

investment’s strategic fit and ability to meet 

 

The acquisition supports Metcash’s Independent Hardware Group (IHG)’s ‘Whole of House’ growth strategy which focuses on increasing 

steps). It broadens IHG’s offer and presence in South 
tary to Metcash’s company owned K&B business in South Australia and othe

Frame & Truss is a key element of Metcash’s IHG ‘Whole of House’ growth strategy. The acquisition extends IHG’s network of Fr

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

of its Total Tools joint venture (JV) stores.  This is to provide JV 

stores through continued equity interest. 

Metcash’s Total Tools retail store ownership continued to expand with the acquisition of ownership interests of 

the Group’s results.

 

Metcash’s operations are designed to allow significant volumes to be distributed through its warehouse infrastructure at a re

In addition to warehouse revenue, earnings are impacted by product category mix and the proportion of the Group’s products bo

The Group’s profitability depends on the efficiency and effectiveness of its operating model. This is achieved by optimising the Group’s 
cost of doing business (‘CODB’) which comprises the various costs of operating the distribution centres
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The Group’s funds employed is primarily influenced by the seasonal working capital cycle. The Group has longer term capital i

The Board’s intention is to continue to invest in the business for future growth while maintaining a strong financial positio

in Metcash’s Sustainability Report. The management of climate

’

ecified under any relevant accounting standards and may not be directly comparable with other companies’ information. 

 

Underlying earnings before interest and tax (‘EBIT’)

Underlying profit after tax (‘UPAT’) (a)

 
 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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are. Superior Foods will be incorporated in Metcash’s FY25 results from 3 June 2024.

— —
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, reflecting the contribution from the business’ strong trading performance, strategic buying 

increased, driven by Total Tools’ competitiveness and leading market position. 
term impact on Total Tools’ gross margin as the business responded to protect market share. Margins 

—

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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Total Tools ‘JV Stores’

’s 

the Group’s net debt position
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

While Metcash’s business operations and strategic priorities are frequently reviewed and developed, and management regularly 
’s

the expansion of the ‘Sorted’ platform, and improvements in 

have a material adverse impact on the Group’s financial performance and profitability.

of supply chain disruption, and workforce labour shortages. The Group’s operations and those of our customers and suppliers 

the Group’s operational and financial performance.

Group’s customers, where customers form their own buying 

Group’s operations, particularly if Metcash fails to respond effectively to that competitive activity or its response is d
as a result of the time required to engage with the Group’s independent retail network in order to implement an initiative). 
competition may also adversely impact Metcash’s long

Metcash’s success in generating profits and increasing its market share is based on the success of the key brands it owns or 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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impact our customers as well as Metcash’s earnings, cost of doing business and profitability.  

the hardware and tools parts of Metcash’s business.

impact Metcash’s operations and supply chain, resulting in

the health of the independent retail network and improving Metcash’s infrastructure to make it simpler to do business. These

Disruption to, or inefficiency or failure within Metcash’s supply chain, product sourcing ability, or of key support systems 
the Group’s ability to deliver on its objectives, its operational capability and financial performance. We seek to man

Metcash’s operations require compliance with various regulatory requirements including work health and safety, food and produ

compliance with Metcash’s processes by joint venture stores and minority joint venture partners may be outside of Metcash’s direct 
compliance may adversely affect Metcash’s operational performance, reputation or financial results.  

of such modern slavery risks could not only negatively impact Metcash’s supply chain operations, but cause material rep

many parts of Metcash’s operations, including the import, manufacturing, marketing, advertising, distribution and sales of i

regulations, could materially impact Metcash’s operational and financial performance, through increased expenditure on compli

impact Metcash’s financial results. While Metcash has in place insurances that it considers are sufficient for a business of 
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’s 

initiatives and absorb potential loss events that may arise. Inability to adequately fund the Group’s business operations and
may lead to difficulty in executing the Group’s strategy. Metcash maintains a prudent approach towards capital management, wh

on favourable terms or at all, may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial performance and position.

The Group’s financial risk management framework is discussed in further detail in 

Metcash’s ability to operate efficiently is critical to support independent retailers in remaining competitive.  A disruption
could result in an increased cost to serve retailers and inability to meet customers’ requirements. 

‘ s’

Metcash’s long

could adversely impact Metcash’s long

adversely impact Metcash’s long

store in their town, and striving to be our retailer’s and supplier’s business partner of choice; underpinned by an effective

adversely affect the Group’s operations and may in turn affect its financial performance. Although Metcash 

Group’s operations and financial performance.

‘ ’

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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in a breach of privacy and security regulations and/or impact Metcash’s commercially sensitive information, which could expos
Metcash to penalties (including financial penalties) and could adversely affect Metcash’s operating and financial 

Metcash is committed to ‘ ’ and a key element of this is 

Metcash has a moderate exposure to environmental risks. Metcash’s operations could be impacted by natural disasters, extreme 

Our business and our people are driven by our purpose of ‘
’, and Metcash is proud to support independent retailers who are at 

–

capabilities to operate in a challenging market whilst being able to effect transformation is critical to Metcash’s success. 

attract or retain employees. If Metcash is unable to attract and retain employees, this may adversely affect the Group’s oper

Interruptions at Metcash’s workplaces arising from industrial disputes, work stoppages and accidents may result in production
delays. Renegotiation of collective agreements may increase Metcash’s operating costs and may involve disputes.  We see

the Group’s cultural values align with their values. Integrity is the foundation of the ethical values and standards of behav
employees through the Group’s Code of Conduct.

term incentive schemes align the Group’s remuneration structure to shareholders’ 
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–

their 70.1% ownership interests to Metcash, subject to a margin related annual financial hurdle (‘hurdle’) being achieved. 

Ritchies’

The Group may, from time to time, be subject to regulatory reviews, audits and investigations which divert management’s atten
away from the Group’s operations 
investigation and that such activities also adversely affect Metcash’s reputation.  

ely impact on Metcash’s 

Based on 118 network stores’ scan data

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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Having over 30 years’ experience in retail and consumer goods industries, including 18 years with Super Retail Group Limited 

’
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Mark has 35 years’ experience as an accountant and senior partner with Coopers & Lybrand and then PwC, including as PwC’s Nat

funds for the National Children’s Hospital (

’

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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The following table presents information relating to membership and attendance at meetings of the Company’s Board of Director
The information reflects those meetings held and attended during a Director’s period 
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‘Championing Successful 
’

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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The second tranche of the Group CEO’s buy

− 

− 

− 
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’s

−

−

–

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

’s

−

−

–

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

’s

−

−

–

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

’s

−

−

–

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

’s

−

−

–
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51
52
53
56
61
62
63
65

Remuneration Report for the Company and its controlled entities (the ‘Group’) for the year ended 30 April 
2024 (‘FY24’). This report forms part of the Directors’ Report and has been audited in accordance with section 308(3C) of the

The report sets out the remuneration arrangements for the Group’s Key Management Personnel (KMP), comprising its Non
xecutives of Metcash (collectively referred to as ‘Executives’), who together have the authority and 

Chief Executive Officer, Australian Liquor Marketers (‘ALM’)
Chief Executive Officer, Independent Hardware Group (‘IHG’)

. Unless otherwise stated, Ms Sita’s 

Unless otherwise stated, Mr Bell’s remuneration 

Unless otherwise stated, Mr Baddock’s remuneration
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‘Championing successful 

’

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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Executive’s experience and performan

’s

The ‘at risk’ STI plan provides Executives the 

the Group’s Adjusted EBIT. 

Distribution transition costs (‘Group Adjusted EBIT’). The 

underlying EBIT acts as a ‘gate opener’ for the STI pools from which awards are 

Budget or ‘Target’ EBIT 

scaled as noted above, a participant’s individual STI award is 

individual’s overall performance rating is equally weighted between their scorecard re
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An individual’s STI award is calculated on the following basis:

y paid on achievement of ‘stretch’ outcomes, which include:
 

 

 An exceptional or successful rating against Metcash’s behaviours framework.

of the Group’s annual results, typically in late June.

Executive STI awards are subject to clawback for cause or material misstatement of the Group’s financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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The LTI offers and vesting outcomes are subject to the Board’s absolute discretion. 

clawback for cause or material misstatement of the Group’s financial 
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The charts below show Metcash’s 

the year. IHG’s EBIT was below target despite delivering market 
performing better than the market overall. Total Tools’ EBIT was below threshold reflecting more challenging external conditi

strong EBIT results. The pillars delivered EBIT results at ‘maximum’/’above target’ level

In FY22, the Group and the pillars delivered exceptional EBIT results. All pillars delivered EBIT results above the ‘maximum’

award to the ‘on target’ level. The Liquor pillar was determined to have performed ‘on target’ and the Hardware pillar ‘below target’. 
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— — —

— — —

— —

— — — —

—

—

—

Represents Mr Jones’ FY23 Group CEO buy out grant (Tranche 2) which vested at 100% following Mr Jones’ achievement of the performance measures. The

It is Metcash’s approach to position remuneration around the market median with capacity to move towards the upper quartile f
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The table below reflects the Executives’ FY24 STI outcomes when compared against target and maximum potential STI:

—

DIRECTORS’ REPORT CONTINUED
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—

—

—

—

equity component subsequently vested on 30 April 2024 following the Executive’s completion of the service condition

—

—

—

—

—

Mr Bell retired as operational Group CFO on 31 January 2024 and ceased employment on 29 February 2024. As a ‘good leaver’, Mr Bell’s performance rights in 
LTI grant remained on foot to be tested at the end of the performance period. The amortisation of all of Mr Bell’s performanc

ALM on 6 October 2023 and ceased employment on 9 February 2024. As a ‘good leaver’, Mr Baddock’s performance rights in relati
The amortisation of all of Mr Baddock’s performance rights have
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–
–

entitlement is expressed as a percentage of the face value of performance rights divided by the participants’ annual fixed re

—
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Ms Sita’s visa expires 

In the event of cessation of employment, an Executive’s unvested performance rights will ordinarily lapse; however, this is s
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The following diagram illustrates Metcash’s remuneration governance framework.

COMMITTEE (‘PCNC’)

‑

(‘ARCC’)

Group’s financial results which 

affect the Board’s 

for the Committee’s thorough 
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The objectives of Metcash’s policy regarding Non

−

−

To align individual interests with shareholders’ interests, Non
Directors fund their own share purchases and must comply with Metcash’s share trading policy. 

executive Directors of one year’s base fees to be accumulated in 

–
–

–
–

– —
– —

–
–
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— — —
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Fixed and ‘at risk’ 

—
—

—
— — — — — — — — —

—
— — — — — — — — —

—
— — — — — — — — —

— — — — —
— — — — — — — — —

—
—

—
—

—

— — — — — — — — —
—

—

The amounts disclosed above reflect Mr Marshall’s 
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— — — —
— — — —

— —
— — — — — —

— —

— —
—

—
— — — —
— — — —

—
— — — —

—

—
—

’s
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audit services undertaken by, and amounts paid to the Company’s auditor, EY Australia are detailed in note 7.2 of the 

The auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 April 114

‘ ’
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
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The financial statements of Metcash Limited (the ‘Company’) and its controlled entities (together the ‘Group’) for the year e

Directors’ Report. The registered office of the Company is 1 Thomas Holt Drive, Macquarie Park NSW 2113.

 

 

amendments do not impact the Group’s financial results and do not have any significant impact on the Group’s balance sheet.

 

p’s 

 

 

Group’s reporting date have been consolidated. In the opinion of the Directors, the expense of providing additional cotermino
statutory accounts, together with consequential delay in producing the Group’s financial statements, would outweigh any 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2024
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In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, the following judgements were made, apart from those involving es

– –
customers purchase goods through the Group’s charge

– 

– 

– –

– 
influence over the Group’s acquisitions. Where the Group exercises 

– 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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which the Group operates. The Group’s reportable segments are therefore as follows:

−

−

−

’

EBIT

Group underlying earnings before interest and tax (‘EBIT’)

The Group’s revenue principally arises from the sale of goods within its 

through platform whereby goods are delivered directly to the Group’s customers by suppliers. The Group 

through transactions are therefore reported on an agency or net ‘commission’ basis
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–
–

—
—

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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—

the Group’s results.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s put option liabilities at balance date were remeasured to reflect the estimated put optio

The Group continues to invest in its mega DC’s capacity, capabilities, footprint & supply chain systems to support current an
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At the Group’s statutory income tax rate of 30% (FY2
–

—
—
—

the Group’s

funding results in an increase/decrease in the subsidiaries’ intercompany accounts with the tax consolidated group head 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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–

–

–
–

–
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–

–

using their Amex customer charge cards. Metcash’s trade receivable is settled in full by Amex. Amex subsequently collects the

million) is included within trade and other payables, with no impact to the Group’s net asset position.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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— —
— — — — — —
— — — —

— —
— —

— — — —
— — — — — —
— — — —

Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price determined under the ‘ Revenue’ 

p’s 

estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s histo
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
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—

— —
— —

— — —
— — —

— — —

— —
—

— — — —

— —
—
—

— — —
— — —

— — —
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asset portfolio and align with the Group’s business needs. The extension options are 
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Amounts due from finance leases are recognised as lease receivables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the lease.

return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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The following table presents key information about the Group’s interests in associates and joint ven

The principal place of business for all of the Group’s equity

Share of investees’ 

’

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in the investment

Carrying amount of the Group’s investment
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– 
– — —

 
At the reporting date, the Group’s share of unrecognised gains or losses is not material.

note 7.3 for details of the Group’s contingent liabilities in relation to equity

The Group’s investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method. Associates are those enti

acquisition changes in the Group’s 

Group’s reporting date have been equity
tatutory accounts, together with consequential delay in producing the Group’s financial statements, would outweigh 

— —

Group’s share of profit for the year

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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—

—
—
—
—
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— — —
—

— — —
— — —
— — —

—

— — —
— — —
— — —

— — —
— — —
—

—

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’

are amortised over the assets’ useful economic
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generating units (or ‘CGU’s) –

The carrying amounts of goodwill and indefinite life intangibles are allocated to the Group’s CGUs as follows:

− –

−

future uncertainty over the Group’s operating cash flows.

− – Discount rates are based on the weighted average cost of capital (‘WACC’) for the Group adjusted for an asset

−

− –

assessment, no impairment of goodwill was identified in any of the Group’s CGUs.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cas

91About Reports Pillars Sustainability Our People Directors’ Report Financial Report



recognised in provisions in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts expecte

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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–

–
– —

note 5.6 for details of the Group’s core borrowing facilities. The core borrowings of the Group must comply with two primary 

There were no defaults or breaches on the Group’s core borrowings in 

–
Group’s 

93About Reports Pillars Sustainability Our People Directors’ Report Financial Report



—

— —
— —

–

of its Total Tools joint venture (JV) stores.  This is to provide JV 

stores through continued equity interest. 

–

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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The exercise price of the put options are based on a multiple of the respective store’s EBITDA over a 12

accounted investment on the Group’s balance sheet. The remaining shareholders in Ritchies have the 

hurdle (‘hurdle’) being achieved.

s’ annual 
audited financial report (‘group put option’ representing the remaining
minority shareholders within a prescribed period (‘small shareholder put option’).
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Whilst the financial hurdle was achieved in respect of Ritchies’ 

ill be determined with reference to Ritchies’ results for that 

 

— —

— —

shares under its Share Purchase Plan (‘SPP’) at $

— —
— —
— —
— —

—
— —
— —
— —
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—

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans and overdrafts, leases, cash and short
The main purpose of these instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group also has various other financial ass

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, interest rate risk, credit risk
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are detailed below. The objective of the Group’s 

’

The Group’s primary source

—

— —

—

—
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year end, as part of the Group’s refinancing activities, an existing facility maturing in September 2025 for $100

as part of the Group’s refinancing activities, 

–

— —
—

— —
—

–
— — —
— — —

— —
—

— —
—

–
– — —
– — —
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The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank debt obligations w

The Group’s treasury policy provides percentage ranges across yearly periods for the interest rate hedging of net debt. 

–
–
– —

–

p’s 
) change in the Group’s net profit after tax

%) of the Group’s 

The Group is exposed to credit risk on ‘back back’ arrangements contained within its property leases where Metcash has subleased 

of the Group’s total sales
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–
–

For the purpose of the Group’s capital 
Position. The Board’s intention is to continue to invest in the business for future growth while maintaining a strong financi

Position ratios are also imposed under the Group’s banking facilities (refer to note 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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— —
—

— —
–

—

–

— — —
— —

–

The acquisition supports Metcash’s IHG ‘Whole of House’ growth strategy which focuses on increasing the proportion of materia
ens IHG’s 

complementary to Metcash’s company owned K&B business in South Australia and other independents in South Austral

’s ‘Whole of House’ growth strategy. The acquisition extends IHG’s network of Frame & Truss 

Metcash’s
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option arrangements with a number of its Total Tools JV stores.  This is to provide JV partners with 

rest. 
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–

—

—
—

Company’s constitution. 

 
A list of the Group’s subsidiaries is included in Appendix B and a list of equity

–

–

–
–

— —

–
— —

103About Reports Pillars Sustainability Our People Directors’ Report Financial Report



–

–

conditions: Return on Funds Employed (‘ROFE’) and Total Shareholder Returns (‘TSR’) over a three

conditions: Return on Funds Employed (‘ROFE’) and Total Shareholder Returns (‘TSR’) over a three

conditions: Return on Funds Employed (‘ROFE’) and Total Shareholder Returns (‘TSR’) over a three

hurdles align to the Group’s annual budget and STI metrics. In addition, the Group CEO’s ongoing 

Group’s O’s ongoing 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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–

–

–

–

– – –

– – –

evaluation of the historical volatility of Metcash’s share price, particularly over the historical period commens
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—
—
—
—
—
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The key terms of the ‘LTI’ and ‘STI plan – deferred component’ plans include:

Some or all of a participant’s performance rights may vest even if a performance condition has not been satisfied, if, using 

–

–

–
–
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‘ ’
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–

 

− 
− 
− 
− 

− 
− 

 

− 
− 
− 
The above standards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements in the year of their in

APPENDIX A – NEW OR AMENDED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
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–

—

Clancy’s Food Stores Pty Ltd

—

—
—

—
—

—

APPENDIX B – INFORMATION ON SUBSIDIARIES
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–

—

—
—
—

—

—
—

—

—

—

—
—

—
—

—

—
—

 

Certain controlled entities of Metcash Limited, collectively referred to as the ‘Closed Group’, are party to a Deed of Cross 
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 irectors’ 

 Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 April 

 

 

 

 

 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of 

 

 

 

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Metcash Limited

, and the directors’ declaration.

 Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2024 and of its consolidated 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

 Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of 

 

 

 

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Metcash Limited

, and the directors’ declaration.

 Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2024 and of its consolidated 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

 Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Metcash Limited

, and the directors’ declaration.

 Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2024 and of its consolidated 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

 Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

► 

the Group’s consolidated statement of 

the Group’s goodwill and other intangible assets 

► Assessed the Group’s determination of the cash 
generating units (CGUs) used in the impairment 
model, based on our understanding of the nature 
of the Group’s business and the economic 
environment in which the segments operate. We 
also considered internal reporting of the Group’s 
results to assess how earnings and goodwill are 
monitored and reported.

► Assessed the Group’s allocation of additional 
goodwill arising from business combinations to 
CGUs used in the impairment model.

► Assessed the cash flow forecasts, assumptions and 
estimates used by the Group, as outlined in Note 
4.7 to the financial statements, by considering the 
reliability of the Group’s historical cash flow 
forecasts, our knowledge of the business and 
corroborating data with external information 
where possible.

► Considered the impact on the cash flow forecasts 
related to the group’s climate change 
commitments.

► Evaluated the appropriateness of discount and 
terminal growth rates applied with involvement 
from our valuation specialists.

► Tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
impairment testing models including the 
consistency of relevant data with latest Board 
approved forecasts.

► Performed sensitivity analysis on key assumptions 
including growth rates (including terminal growth 
rates) and discount rates, for each of the Group’s 
CGUs.

► Assessed the adequacy of the financial report 
disclosures contained in Note 4.7.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of 

 

 

 

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

of the financial report outlines the Group’s 

rebates contributed significantly to the Group’s results

► Evaluated the Group's design of controls relating to 
the recognition, measurement and classification of 
rebate amounts recognised within the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive  income.

► Assessed the operating effectiveness of relevant 
controls in place relating to the recognition and 
measurement of selected purchase-volume based 
rebates.

► Selected a sample of non purchase-volume based and 
purchase-volume based rebates, and determined 
whether the rebates were calculated in accordance 
with the agreed terms and assessed whether the 
timing and value of amounts recognised were in 
accordance with the requirements of Australian 
Accounting Standards.

► Selected a sample of supplier rebates recorded as 
receivables at year-end and assessed whether the 
income was correctly calculated and recognised in the 
correct period.

► Considered the Group’s assessment of the value of 
rebates associated with inventory on hand at year end 
that were deducted from the carrying value of 
inventory.

► Considered the impact of supplier claims during and 
subsequent to year end on amounts recognised.

► Inquired of the Group as to the existence of any non-
standard agreements or side arrangements.

Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon

Group’s 202 Annual Report other than the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the directors’ report 
that is to be included in the Annual Report, prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remainin

e Annual Report after the date of this auditor’s report. 

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Metcash Limited

, and the directors’ declaration.

 Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2024 and of its consolidated 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

 Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going con

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance

► Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

► Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

► Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

► Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

► Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether the 
financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

► Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of 

 

 

 

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s 

51 66 the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 April 202

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Metcash Limited

, and the directors’ declaration.

 Giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2024 and of its consolidated 
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

 Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Ernst & Young
200 George Street
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959
ey.com/au
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Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows.  
The information is current as at 5 July 2024.

Distribution of Equity Securities
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class of share is:

Size of holding
Number of 

shareholders

1–1,000 9,903
1,001–5,000 13,131
5,001–10,000 5,576
10,001–100,000 5,365
100,001+ 186

Total 34,161

There were 1,138 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of Metcash ordinary shares.

Twenty largest holders of quoted shares
The names of the 20 largest holders of quoted shares are:

Name
Number
of shares

Percentage
of shares

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 335,798,785 30.76%
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 191,494,400 17.54%
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 161,965,120 14.84%
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <COLONIAL FIRST STATE INV A/C> 42,697,669 3.91%
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 37,111,092 3.40%
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <AGENCY LENDING A/C> 24,876,476 2.28%
BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD 14,784,991 1.35%
BNP PARIBAS NOMS (NZ) LTD 6,360,069 0.58%
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <143212 NMMT LTD A/C> 5,386,167 0.49%
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <HUB24 CUSTODIAL SERV LTD> 5,341,289 0.49%
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED <NT-COMNWLTH SUPER CORP A/C> 4,475,207 0.41%
BKI INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 3,621,084 0.33%
NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED <WRAP SERVICES A/C> 3,357,420 0.31%
CERTANE CT PTY LTD <METCASH EMPLOYEE SHARE PLAN> 2,900,882 0.27%
UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 2,678,390 0.25%
IOOF INVESTMENT SERVICES LIMITED <IISL NAL ISMA 2 A/C> 2,439,322 0.22%
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 2,320,550 0.21%
IOOF INVESTMENT SERVICES LIMITED <IISL NAL ISMA 1 A/C> 1,476,108 0.14%
IOOF INVESTMENT SERVICES LIMITED <IOOF IDPS A/C> 1,337,116 0.12%
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 1,262,908 0.12%

Total 851,685,045 78.02%

ASX INFORMATION
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Substantial Shareholders
The following is extracted from the Company’s register of substantial shareholders:

Number
of shares

Perpetual Limited 84,870,321
State Street Corporation 68,056,958
Superannuation and Investments HoldCo Pty Ltd 62,311,270
Australian Retirement Trust Pty Ltd 59,036,086
Mitsubishi UFJ Financial Group, Inc 54,873,964
The Vanguard Group, Inc 48,338,717

Voting Rights
All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Directors
Doug Jones (Group CEO) 
Peter Birtles (Chair) 
Mark Johnson  
Margaret Haseltine 
Christine Holman 
Murray Jordan 
Helen Nash

Company Secretary
Julie Hutton

Share Register
Boardroom Pty Limited 
GPO Box 3993 
Sydney NSW 2001
Freecall: 1800 655 325 
Telephone: 61 2 9290 9600

Auditor
Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 Australia
Telephone: 61 2 9248 5555

Metcash Limited
ABN 32 112 073 480
1 Thomas Holt Drive 
Macquarie Park NSW 2113
PO Box 557 
Macquarie Park NSW 1670
Telephone: 61 2 9741 3000

Metcash Food (Head Office)
1 Thomas Holt Drive 
Macquarie Park NSW 2113
PO Box 557 
Macquarie Park NSW 1670
Telephone: 61 2 9741 3000

Australian Liquor Marketers (Head Office)
1 Thomas Holt Drive 
Macquarie Park NSW 2113
PO Box 557 
Macquarie Park NSW 1670
Telephone: 61 2 9741 3000

Independent Hardware Group (Head Office)
19 Corporate Drive 
Heatherton VIC 3202
Telephone: 61 2 9741 3000

Corporate Governance
A copy of the Corporate Governance Statement can be found on our website.
Visit www.metcash.com/corporateinformation/corporate-governance
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